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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

COLUMBIA DIVISION 

 

AMY ELIZABETH WILLIAMS as the  

PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE of   

the ESTATE  FOR   

 and AMY ELIZABETH   

WILLIAMS individually,    

       

  Plaintiffs, 

 

                                 vs.   

     

 QUEST DIAGNOSTICS, INC., 

ATHENA    

DIAGNOSTICS, INC., ADI HOLDINGS,  

INC.       

       

  Defendants.  

CA. NO. 3:16-CV-00972-MBS 

 

 

 

 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

 

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2), and with leave from this Honorable Court, the 

Plaintiffs submit the following First Amended Complaint: 

Plaintiffs, Amy Elizabeth Williams as the Personal Representative of the Estate for 

 (hereinafter “ ”) and Amy Elizabeth Williams individually 

(hereinafter “Williams ID”) (and when necessary, collectively hereinafter as “Plaintiffs”), by and 

through their counsel, complaining of the above named defendants herein, respectfully allege and 

show unto this Honorable Court as follows:   

JURISDICTIONAL FACTS 

1. Plaintiff, Williams PR, is the duly appointed Personal Representative of the Estate of her 

deceased child,  (“ ” or “Decedent”), as will appear more fully in 

the records of the Probate Court for the County of Richland, South Carolina in case No. 2015-
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ES-40-00520. Williams PR brings this action on behalf of the Estate of  

and for those damages recoverable by the statutory beneficiaries of . 

2. Plaintiff, Williams ID, is presently a citizen and resident of Horry County, South 

Carolina; however, Williams ID lived with , in Richland County at the time of ’s 

death.  

3. The Defendant Quest Diagnostics Incorporated (hereinafter “Quest”) is, upon information 

and belief, a foreign corporation, organized in the state of Delaware, with its principal place of 

business in Madison, New Jersey. Quest is a large publicly traded company with a recently 

valued  market capitalization of approximately Nine Billion U.S. Dollars, which offers a variety 

of laboratory testing products and laboratory services to clients residing in every U.S. state as 

well as certain clients living in a number of foreign countries. Quest, at all times relevant hereto, 

was doing business in South Carolina through its agents and subsidiaries, and through this 

persistent course of conduct, Quest derives substantial revenue from services rendered in South 

Carolina. Moreover, both the negligent conduct and purposeful actions and inactions of Quest, 

related to the Plaintiffs herein and as better described below, foreseeably connect Quest with the 

forum state of South Carolina such that Quest should reasonably anticipate being subjected to the 

jurisdiction of this Court, thus this court has in personam and subject matter jurisdiction over the 

defendants.  Likewise, venue is proper in Richland County. 

4. The Defendant Athena Diagnostics Incorporated (hereinafter “Athena”) is, upon 

information and belief, a foreign corporation, organized in the state of Delaware, and authorized 

to conduct business in South Carolina as a registered foreign corporation with the South Carolina 

Secretary of State. Athena, at all times relevant hereto, was doing business in South Carolina 

through its agents, and through this persistent course of conduct, Athena derives substantial 
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revenue from services rendered in South Carolina. Moreover, both the negligent conduct and 

purposeful actions and inactions of Athena, related to the Plaintiffs herein and as better described 

below, foreseeably connect Athena with the forum state of South Carolina such that Athena 

should reasonably anticipate being subjected to the jurisdiction of this Court, thus this court has 

in personam and subject matter jurisdiction over the defendants.  Likewise, venue is proper in 

Richland County. 

5. The Defendant ADI Holdings Incorporated (hereinafter “ADI”) is, upon information and 

belief, a foreign corporation, organized in the state of Delaware, and at all times relevant hereto, 

ADI was doing business in South Carolina through its agents and subsidiaries, and through this 

persistent course of conduct, ADI derives substantial revenue from services rendered in South 

Carolina. Moreover, both the negligent conduct and purposeful actions and inactions of ADI, 

related to the Plaintiffs herein and as better described below, foreseeably connect ADI with the 

forum state of South Carolina such that ADI should reasonably anticipate being subjected to the 

jurisdiction of this Court, thus this court has in personam and subject matter jurisdiction over the 

defendants.  Likewise, venue is proper in Richland County. 

6. Quest, Athena, and ADI (when referred to collectively herein after, the “Defendants”) are 

part of an interrelated amalgamation of corporate interests. Quest, a large publicly traded entity, 

owns all outstanding shares of ADI following its purchase of ADI in 2011. ADI, in turn, owns all 

outstanding shares of Athena.  

RELEVANT AGENTS AND ACTORS 

7. Narasimhan Nagan, Ph.D. (hereinafter “Nagan”) is, upon information and belief, a 

resident and citizen of Massachusetts.  Nagan was employed by Athena as Director of Genetics, 

and at all times relevant hereto was an agent and servant of Athena, and therefore Athena is 
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liable for the acts of Nagan under the doctrine of respondeat superior. Moreover, both the 

negligent and purposeful actions, and inactions, of Nagan foreseeably caused the harms to the 

Plaintiffs as described below. 

8. Hui Zhu, Ph.D. (hereinafter “Zhu”) is, upon information and belief, a resident and citizen 

of Massachusetts.  Zhu was employed by Athena as Director of Genetics, and at all times 

relevant hereto was an agent and servant of Athena, and therefore Athena is liable for the acts of 

Zhu under the doctrine of respondeat superior. Moreover, both the negligent and purposeful 

actions, and inactions, of Zhu foreseeably caused the harms to the Plaintiffs as described below. 

9. Sat Dev Batish, Ph.D. (hereinafter “Batish”) is, upon information and belief, a resident 

and citizen of Massachusetts.  Batish was employed by Athena as Chief Director of Genetics, 

and at all times relevant hereto was an agent and servant of Athena, and therefore Athena is 

liable for the acts of Batish under the doctrine of respondeat superior. Moreover, both the 

negligent and purposeful actions, and inactions, of Batish foreseeably caused the harms to the 

Plaintiffs as described below. 

10. Joseph J. Higgins, M.D. (hereinafter “Higgins”) is, upon information and belief, a 

resident and citizen of Massachusetts.  Higgins was employed by Athena and served as the 

Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments (“CLIA”) Laboratory Director and license 

holder (#22D0069726) for Athena, and at all times relevant hereto was an agent and servant of 

Athena, and therefore Athena is liable for the acts of Higgins under the doctrine of respondeat 

superior.  Moreover, both the negligent and purposeful actions, and inactions, of Higgins 

foreseeably caused the harms to the Plaintiffs as described below. 
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND FOR RELIEF 

11. The factual assertions contained in the averments, which follow in paragraphs Eleven 

(11) through Thirty Seven (37), are herein referenced by the affidavit of Robert Cook-Deegan, 

M.D., who is a research professor in the Sanford School of Public Policy at Duke University, 

with secondary appointments in Internal Medicine (School of Medicine), and Biology (Trinity 

College of Arts & Sciences). He is also the founding director for Genome Ethics, Law & Policy 

in Duke’s Institute for Genome Sciences & Policy.  This affidavit and all of its attachments are 

incorporated within this complaint and affixed hereto as Exhibit A, as if set forth herein 

verbatim.  

12.  was born on August 23, 2005, and developed normally and relatively healthfully 

throughout his first four months.   By December 23, 2005, at his four month check-up, ’s 

health records indicate that he began suffering from febrile focal motor seizures.  Accordingly, 

Williams ID sought treatment for ’s condition from a variety of service providers. Despite 

his treatments, ’s condition developed into frequently occurring afebrile seizures of 

varying types, including tonic-clonic, atonic and absence seizures. These often reached status 

epilepticus.  The medical treatments given to  included the prescription of sodium channel 

blocking medications, including: Carbamazepine (Tegretol) and Lamotrigine (Lamictal). 

13. These sodium channel blocking medications are used to treat frequently occurring 

seizures of varying types and were prescribed by treating neurologist, Timothy Scott Livingston, 

M.D. (hereinafter “Dr. Livingston”), while Dr. Livingston was employed with the University of 

South Carolina Medical School. However, the administration of these medications proved 

ineffective at treating ’s condition.  
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14. In an attempt to more accurately diagnose the exact nature of ’s condition, a series 

of tests were performed, including: Five (5) muscle biopsy tests, Seven (7) different genetic tests, 

Ten (10) metabolic tests, and Two (2) cell culture tests as diagnostic workup for ’s history 

of refractory seizures and developmental delay. 

15.  Many of these tests were undertaken at the direction of treating clinical geneticists, John 

McKinley Shoffner, M.D. (hereinafter “Dr. Shoffner”), and, Frances Dougherty Kendall, M.D. 

(hereinafter “Dr. Kendall”), while both were employed at Horizon Molecular Medicine in 

Atlanta, Georgia. From this diagnostic workup, performed by Dr. Shoffner and Dr. Kendall, 

 was diagnosed with “probable mitochondrial encephalomyopathy.”  

16. Working under this original mitochondrial diagnosis, Dr. Shoffner sought confirmation  

by systematically ruling out other possible causes for ’s condition of frequently occurring 

afebrile seizures.  Among the other possible causes of ’s condition included a severe form 

of epileptic encephalopathy also known as severe myoclonic epilepsy of infancy– Dravet 

Syndrome, also known as Severe Myoclonic Epilepsy of Infancy (“SMEI”).   

17. As part of the process of dismissing Dravet Syndrome and confirming Dr. Shoffner’s and 

Dr. Kendall’s mitochondrial diagnosis, deoxyribonucleic acid (“DNA”) was extracted from a 

blood sample. The extracted DNA was provided to Athena’s laboratory for what is known as an 

SCN1A DNA Sequencing Clinical Diagnostic Test for the very limited purpose of “detecting an 

existing disease, illness, impairment, symptom or disorder” on the particular gene where a 

connection to Dravet would likely be found.    

18. Sodium channel, voltage gated, type I alpha subunit (designated “SCN1A”) is a human 

gene that provides instructions for making sodium channels.  These channels, which are most 

often found in brain and muscle cells, transport positively charged sodium atoms (sodium ions) 
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into cells. This process plays a key role in a cell's ability to generate and transmit electrical 

signals from one nerve cell (neuron) to another.  Without an effective mechanism for controlling 

the flow of sodium ions (charged particles) from one neuron to the next in the brain, seizures can 

occur.  Seizures arise when neurons that excite electrical impulses are not balanced by neurons 

that inhibit electrical impulses.  Defects in the sodium channel foster seizures because the 

sodium channel is located in a neuron that inhibits electrical impulses.  When the sodium channel 

is defective, the neuron does not inhibit electrical impulses effectively, so there is an 

overabundance of excitation and seizures result. 

19. On June 30, 2007, an SCN1A DNA Sequencing Clinical Diagnostic Report (the “2007 

Report”) issued by Athena, indicated that  possessed a DNA mutation in the SCN1A gene 

classified as a “Variant of unknown significance.”  

20. Specifically, Athena detected and identified “a transversion from thymine (T) to adenine 

(A) at nucleotide position 1237 at codon 413 resulting in the amino acid change of tyrosine (Y) 

to asparagine (N)” (hereinafter designated “1237T>A, Y413N” as it appears in the 2007 Report).  

Williams PR or Williams ID never saw the 2007 Report until September 29, 2014, as discussed 

below. 

21. The glossary provided in the 2007 Report defines Variant of unknown significance as: 

“DNA sequence variants that are detected reproducibly, but have not been correlated with 

clinical presentation and/or pathology in the current literature, nor do they result in a readily 

predictable effect upon protein structure and function.”  

22. Tragically for  and his mother, Williams ID, the 2007 Report by Athena, which 

classified his SCN1A DNA mutation as a “Variant of unknown significance,” was incorrect. 

’s specific DNA mutation (1237T>A, Y413N) in the SCN1A gene not only possessed the 
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characteristics expected of a disease causing alteration, but such mutation had also been reported, 

studied, and known in those persons expressing Dravet Syndrome. Yet, the test in question – 

designed, marketed, and employed to identify this well known mutation – failed to do so. 

23. Because this test is specifically designed and marketed to identify mutations linked to 

Dravet Syndrome, doctors for  reasonably expected to receive unequivocal results. Given 

that Athena presented itself as an expert, with highly technical and specialized skill sets, 

’s doctors reasonably expected the test to clearly confirm whether  possessed a 

DNA mutation linked to Dravet.  

24. The Technical Results, of the 2007 Report, appear “methodologically accurate” and 

appear to correctly identify the transversion in question located on the correct SCN1A gene.  

However, the mutation simply is mislabeled. Doctors who seek the highly specialized testing at 

issue should be able to rely on the fact that such a test would correctly identify a well “Known 

disease-associated mutation” without regard to the speculation of the comments section. By not 

providing ’s doctors with the definitive answer that the mutation was known to be 

associated with Dravet Syndrome, which was the main reason for conducting the test in question, 

Defendants breached a duty of care owed to Williams PR and Williams ID by misleading the 

child’s doctors. 

25. Given the specific value of the test in question – to identify gene mutations linked to 

Dravet Syndrome – ’s doctors reasonably relied that the test in question would identify 

whether or not  possessed such a mutation, and if such a mutation were identified, then 

’s doctors would have expected such a mutation to be labeled correctly – “Known 

disease-associated mutation.”  
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26. Unfortunately, the test results definitively state that  possessed a mutation of 

“unknown significance,” which in turn misinformed ’s doctors of the significance of the 

mutation in question.  Doctors for  should have been able to rely on the classification of 

the variant type listed on the test’s technical results without looking to boilerplate disclosures 

that speculate on the significance of mutations of purportedly “unknown significance.” 

27. A review of the SCN1A DNA Sequencing Diagnostic contained in the 2007 Report and 

the mistakes therein, indicates that Athena breached the standards of care set by Clinical 

Laboratory Improvement Amendments (“CLIA”) – a federal certification process for laboratories 

that perform clinical diagnostic tests on human specimens in the United States – for a certified 

diagnostic laboratory performing high-complexity genetic testing. Specifically, Athena 

negligently failed to correctly classify the DNA missense mutation in the decedent’s SCN1A 

gene. See 42 C.F.R 491.10 et seq.  

28. The existence of two clinical publications establish the foundation necessary to link  

’s DNA missense mutation to the DNA diagnostic variant of “Known disease-associated 

mutation,” as listed in the 2007 Report. These variant classifications are based on criteria set 

forth and defined by Athena. Both of these publications, Berkovic et al., 2006 and Harken et al., 

2007, were products of the laboratory that was granted a patent on the identification of SCN1A 

mutations and their utilization in the treatment of sodium-channel dysfunction disorders.  This 

patent was licensed and utilized by Athena for SCN1A DNA clinical diagnostic testing in the 

United States (U.S. Patent # 7,078,515 - licensed to Athena by Bionomics Ltd. in September 

2004).      

29. Additionally, ’s mutation (1237T>A, Y413N) was specifically cited as an SCN1A 

DNA mutation that “disrupts the functioning of an assembled ion channel so as to produce an 
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epilepsy phenotype” in U.S. Patent #8,129,142 and #7,709,225, continuations-in-part of U.S. 

patent #7,078,515.  That is, these patents originated in the same patent that Athena lists as 

exclusively licensed for SCN1A genetic testing. This patent was used for the development, 

validation and utilization of SCN1A DNA clinical diagnostic testing in the United States.   

30. Moreover, because the process of identifying ’s particular mutation of the SCN1A 

gene was, at the time of the 2007 Report, subject to the above patents and Athena had the sole 

responsibility for creating and defining the possible “Variant Types” listed in the Technical 

Results, neither Williams PR nor Williams ID, nor their doctors had any meaningful opportunity 

for second opinions.  Both Williams PR and Williams ID, as well as the doctors they employed, 

reasonably relied on the Technical Results and the Variant Type provided by the 2007 Report. 

31. Further, the 2007 Report indicates that the Chief CLIA Laboratory Director for Athena, 

Batish, reviewed the laboratory results and submitted the erroneous clinical information of 

. Moreover, Batish is one of the authors of the Harkin et al., 2007 publication referenced 

above, which identifies ’s mutation as one associated with Dravet.  This scholarly paper 

was submitted and published prior to Athena’s issuance of the 2007 Report. As such, Batish 

clearly knew, or should have known, that a mistake was apparent on the 2007 Report.  

32. The errors cited above, violate the stated classification procedures of Athena’s CLIA 

certification, including: CLIA regulation 42 C.F.R. §493.1291(a), “the laboratory must have an 

adequate system(s) in place to ensure test results are accurately and reliably sent from the point 

of data entry to final report destination, in a timely manner” and §493.1289(a) “the laboratory 

must establish and follow written policies and procedures for an ongoing mechanism to monitor, 

assess, and when indicated, correct problems identified in the analytic systems.”  In addition, 

there is no date recorded for specimen collection date, violating §493.1283(a)(2), “the laboratory 
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must maintain an information or record system that includes the date and time of specimen 

receipt into the laboratory.” 

33. As a result of the various violations of CLIA and the errors in classification cited above, 

doctors for  continued in their mistaken original diagnosis that  suffered from a 

mitochondrial disorder and continued with treatments designed for same.  

34. Reasonably relying on the erroneous 2007 Report issued by Athena, a diagnosis of 

Dravet Syndrome was rejected by Dr. Shoffner, Dr. Kendall, Dr. Livingston and Dr. Clarkson. 

As a result,  continued to be treated with increasing doses of multiple sodium channel 

blocking medications including Carbamazepine (Tegretol) and Lamotrigine (Lamictal) – a 

standard treatment for epileptic seizures not caused by Dravet Syndrome (SMEI).  

35. As a proximate cause of Athena’s negligent laboratory practices and failure to accurately 

classify the identified DNA mutation according to Athena’s own variant classification criteria 

listed in the 2007 Report,  lost his life on January 5, 2008 following a traumatic seizure.   

36. The health records of  reflect treatment with sodium channel blocking 

medications, including Carbamazepine (Tegretol), Oxcarbazepine (Trileptal) and Lamotrigine 

(Lamictal), for treatment from onset of seizure presentation through the end of ’s life. 

37. Sodium channel blocking medications have been reported in numerous publications, Horn 

et al., 1986, Wakai et al., 1996, Guerrini et al., 1998, to worsen seizures in those with Dravet 

Syndrome (SMEI).  These publications include reference #11 on ’s 2007 SCN1A DNA 

Sequencing Clinical Diagnostic Report issued by Athena.  

38. This causal connection between Athena’s negligence and ’s ensuing death is 

further confirmed by the affidavit of Dr. Max Wiznitzer, M.D. (hereinafter “Dr. Wiznitzer”), a 

pediatric neurologist at the Rainbow Babies & Children’s Hospital, board-certified by the 
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American Board of Pediatrics in Pediatrics and board-certified by the American Board of 

Psychiatry and Neurology both in Neurology, with special qualification in Child Neurology, and 

in Neurodevelopmental Disabilities. In his affidavit, Dr. Wiznitzer notes, “that if the ( ’s) 

SMEI condition had been properly diagnosed and had [ ] received appropriate care for the 

treatment and management of SMEI, [ ] would not have suffered the fatal seizure on 

January 5, 2008.” Dr. Wizniter’s affidavit, and all of its attachments, are incorporated within this 

complaint and affixed hereto as Exhibit B, as if set forth herein verbatim. 

39. Thus, Athena’s violation of multiple CLIA federal regulatory standards posed immediate 

jeopardy to  (42 C.F.R. §493.2), “a situation in which immediate corrective action is 

necessary because the laboratory’s noncompliance with one or more condition level 

requirements has already caused, is causing, or is likely to cause, at any time, serious injury or 

harm, or death, to individuals served by the laboratory.”      

40. The 2007 Report issued by Athena, breached the standard of care of a clinical diagnostic 

laboratory performing genetic testing by any one or all of the following:  

a) its negligent failure to provide an accurate genetic confirmation of a Dravet 

Syndrome (SMEI),  

b) failure to adhere to a post-analytic DNA variant classification system,  

c) failure of timely notification of the SCN1A DNA mutation reclassification. 

41. Such failures, as described in the foregoing, of each Athena agent listed above as having 

contributed to the laboratory results have deviated from the accepted standard of care protocol of 

any CLIA certified clinical diagnostic laboratory performing high-complexity genetic testing. 

This directly and proximately resulted in ’s doctors persisting in their erroneous diagnosis 
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and leading to dangerous and ineffective treatments of . As such, this erroneous 2007 

Report proximately caused the death of the young child . 

42. Further, such failures, as described in the foregoing, of Athena’s CLIA license holder 

Higgins have deviated from the accepted standard of care in the field of clinical diagnostic 

genetics, and proximately contributed to the erroneous 2007 Clinical Diagnostic Report. The 

clinical findings as reported lead to inappropriate treatments, thereby exacerbating the seizure 

disorder of and proximately contributing to the death of the child, . 

43. Thereafter, in September 2014, at the request of Williams ID, Lola Kate Clarkson, M.D. 

(hereinafter “Dr. Clarkson”) and Amy Dobson, M.S., CGC, Athena and Quest were contacted 

seeking a copy of the SCN1A DNA Sequencing Clinical Diagnostic Report for .  After 

significant delay, on January 30, 2015, Quest and Athena jointly produced a Revised Report (the 

“2015 Report”). This revised 2015 Report now correctly indicated that the SCN1A DNA 

mutation is a “Known disease-associated mutation,” and not as initially classified a “Variant of 

unknown significance.” Of note, this correction and proper reclassification was made without 

parental testing.  

44. Both Athena and Quest jointly issued this purportedly “new” 2015 SCN1A DNA 

Sequencing Clinical Diagnostic and forwarded it to Dr. Clarkson as a facsimile imprinted with 

title “Quest Diagnostics” in pertinent part.  However, this purportedly “new” 2015 Report does 

not cite any new publication references used in the re-classification of this mutation (1237T>A, 

Y413N). Such an omission violates CLIA regulation §493.1241(c)(8), “any additional 

information relevant and necessary for a specific test to ensure accurate and timely testing and 

reporting of results, including interpretation.” 
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45. Additionally, the laboratory results and submitted clinical information within the 2015 

Report were purportedly authorized and reported by Nagan, ABMG, Director, Genetics, and 

Zhu, ABMG, Director, Genetics. Upon information and belief, both Nagan and Zhu left the 

employment of Athena before 2009 and as such could not have possibly authorized the issuance 

of the revised 2015 Report. This intentional misrepresentation violates CLIA regulation 

§493.1283(4) “the record system must include the records and dates of all specimen testing, 

including the identity of the personnel who performed the test(s),” which are necessary to assure 

proper identification and accurate reporting of test results.  To issue the revised 2015 Report 

authorized by two geneticists that are no longer employed by Athena must have been done by 

Quest and Athena, in concert, with intent to circumvent or disobey CLIA’s federal regulatory 

standards. 

46. Moreover, both Defendants Athena and Quest violated CLIA regulation §493.1291(k) 

when neither issued a properly amended clinical diagnostic report when this DNA mutation 

(1237T>A, Y413N) was re-classified as a “Known disease-associated mutation.”  When errors in 

the reported test results are detected, “the laboratory must: (k)(1) Promptly notify the authorized 

person ordering the test and, if applicable, the individual using the test results of reporting errors, 

(k)(2) Issue corrected reports promptly to the authorized person(s) ordering the test and, if 

applicable, the individual using the test results.” 

47. Furthermore, both Defendants Athena and Quest violated the Plaintiffs’ right to access 

protected health information (CLIA regulation §493.1291(1), and the Health Insurance 

Portability and Accountability Act, regulation 45 CFR §164.524(c)(3)(ii)), when it refused to 

provide the completed test results to the Plaintiffs upon Williams ID’s request in September 

2014.  
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48.  Moreover, such failures of the initial 2007 Report, as described in the foregoing, were 

known to all the Defendants for a considerable period of time prior to the issuance of the 2015 

Report at Williams ID’s request, through Dr. Clarkson.  However, these defendants purposefully 

chose not to reveal this vital information to the Plaintiffs.  

49. In failing to provide correct test results and the requisite updated results, Williams ID 

continued to believe she carried a mitochondrial mutation that might be passed along to any 

subsequent children she might bear.  

50. Williams ID sought counseling and the companionship of other mothers with 

mitochondrial conditions in various support groups. Within these support groups Williams ID 

shared her story of loss and listened to the problems of others she believed to be similarly 

situated.  Williams ID gathered what she reasonably believed to be important information about 

her mitochondrial condition and how such condition might affect future children.     

51. Upon receiving the 2015 Report, Williams ID realized the true cause of the death of her 

son, and this created new psychological trauma whereby she relived the moment of the child’s 

death and re-experienced the substantial and unparalleled pain of losing her only child. 

FOR A FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Negligence/Gross Negligence Resulting in Wrongful Death) 

 

52. Each and every allegation set forth above is fully incorporated herein. 

 

53. Williams PR is the duly appointed Personal Representative of the Estate of  and 

she brings this action on behalf of the Estate of  and for damages 

recoverable by the statutory beneficiaries of .  

54. At the time when ’s initial 2007 Test was conducted, Athena had a duty to meet a 

reasonable standard of care in the course of providing CLIA-licensed high complexity clinical 

diagnostic genetic testing services to , in accordance with the standards of the National 
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Committee on Clinical Laboratory Standards (“NCCLS”).  However, Athena breached those 

duties and standards of care in one or more of the following particulars:  

a) failure to provide accurate genetic confirmation of Dravet Syndrome (SMEI) in 

the 2007 Report,  

b) failure to adhere to post-analytic DNA variant classification system,  

c) failure of timely notification of the SCN1A DNA mutation reclassification, 

d) failure to follow the litany of CLIA federal regulatory standards as recited above. 

55. Athena breached its duties to  in each of the aforementioned particulars. Such 

breaches were negligent, grossly negligent, careless, and/or reckless. 

56. Athena, acting through various agents, Nagan, Zhu, Batish and Higgins, reviewed or had 

opportunity to review, the 2007 Report with the finding of a DNA mutation (1237T>A, Y413N) 

as plainly stated on the 2007 Report – all test results are reviewed, interpreted and reported by 

ABMG certified Clinical Molecular Geneticists. A simple review of such findings would have 

confirmed that ’s mutation demonstrated genetic characteristics consistent with Dravet 

Syndrome. At a minimum, the incorrect classification of ’s mutation as a “Variant of 

unknown significance” could not be supported by the finding of a missense “DNA mutation 

(1237T>A, Y413N).” 

57. Moreover, Athena had a duty to correctly inform Williams PR of his SMEI condition; 

such failure prevented  from discovering more appropriate treatments available to 

mitigate ’s condition, and a duty to aid  in obtaining treatment to correct the 

condition, or otherwise mitigate the known consequences of Athena’s erroneous diagnostic DNA 

variant classification. Such a breach of this duty was negligent, grossly negligent, careless, 

and/or reckless. 
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58. Further, Athena knew, or should have known, that results from their clinical diagnostic 

SCN1A genetic testing would have direct impact on ’s treatment and clinical 

management.  Specifically, that a treating physician would likely continue to treat , or any 

other person with frequently occurring epileptic seizures not caused by Dravet Syndrome 

(SMEI), with sodium channel blocking medications such as: Carbamazepine (Tegretol) and 

Lamotrigine (Lamictal), and that such a treatment would likely expose someone with Dravet 

Syndrome, such as , to a high risk of death, which in fact did occur.  

59. The clinical findings of the 2007 Report, led to inappropriate medical treatments, thereby 

exacerbating ’s seizure disorder and proximately caused his death.  has suffered 

damages in an amount to be determined by the jury. As a direct and proximate cause of the 

aforementioned negligent, grossly negligent, careless, and/or reckless actions and/or omissions 

of Athena, acting by and through its agents, servants, and employees, as hereinabove more 

particularly set forth in paragraphs Forty (40) through Forty Three (43),  suffered a 

serious, severe, painful, debilitating, and fatal seizure resulting in his death on January 5, 2008.  

60. ’s statutory beneficiaries, as represented by Williams PR, have suffered economic 

loss, severe emotional distress, anxiety, grief, and sorrow for which Williams PR is entitled to 

recover on behalf of the statutory beneficiaries actual and punitive damages (when allowable 

under law) pursuant to S.C. Code §§ 15-51-10 et seq. in an amount to be determined by the jury.  

FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Survivorship Action) 

 

61. Each and every allegation set forth above is fully incorporated herein. 

62. Athena, acting through its agents, Nagan, Zhu, Batish and Higgins, as well as those who 

might be uncovered through discovery, committed various acts and omissions as previously 
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outlined above, which constitutes negligence, gross-negligence, carelessness, recklessness and 

willfulness and wantonness.  

63. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and/or omissions of Athena as listed above, 

, the decedent, sustained severe and permanent injuries, eventually leading to ’s 

death. Prior to his death,  suffered from numerous debilitating seizures, including the 

seizure that finally ended his life. 

64. Williams PR is informed and believes that pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-5-90, ’s 

estate is entitled to a judgment against Athena for the damages, which  would be entitled 

had he survived the erroneous findings of the 2007 Report by Athena, both actual and punitive, 

for each additional seizure suffered by  including the seizure that ended the life of 

. 

FOR A THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Negligent Misrepresentation) 

 

65. Each and every allegation set forth above is fully incorporated herein. 

66. Upon information and belief, Defendants issued the 2007 Report to Plaintiff without 

regard to the consequences, which contained material information regarding the results of the 

genetic testing that included misrepresentations, errors, mistakes, or miscommunications which 

are known to be false, that directly resulted in damage to , as set forth above, and damage 

to Williams ID through the loss of a substantial period of her child bearing years based on the 

false belief she passed an uncharacterized mitochondrial disorder to her son , as well as 

severe emotional distress to Williams ID.   

67. Upon information and belief, this negligent misrepresentation included the following: 
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a) The 2007 Report was a materially false representation made by these Defendants 

when they published the results that the mutation possessed by  was “a 

variant of unknown significance” instead of a “known disease-associated 

mutation” and distributed these results to ’s treating physicians; 

b) These Defendants had a pecuniary interest in making the statement, due to the fact 

that through the course of their business, they perform these genetic tests for 

many patients; 

c) These Defendants owed a duty of care to Plaintiffs and similarly situated 

individuals, to see that they communicated truthful information regarding the 

results of this testing; 

d) The Defendants breached that duty by failing to exercise due care in reporting the 

results of the testing; 

e) The Plaintiffs and ’s treating physicians were unaware of the falsity of this 

report and relied on the purported truth of this representation and had the right to 

rely on the representations made in the report; 

f) As a direct result and proximate cause of the Defendants’ false representation the 

Plaintiffs suffered injury and damages as set forth below.  

68. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and/or omissions of all the Defendants, 

 sustained severe and permanent injuries, eventually leading to his death. ’s 

statutory beneficiaries, as represented by Williams PR, have suffered economic loss, severe 

emotional distress, anxiety, grief, and sorrow for which Williams PR is entitled to recover on 

behalf of the statutory beneficiaries actual and punitive damages. 
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69. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and/or omissions of all the Defendants,  

 sustained severe and permanent injuries, eventually leading to his death, and thereby 

proximately causing Plaintiff Williams ID the loss of comfort, services, companionship, and 

society of her son and child. Moreover, Williams ID lost a significant portion of her child 

bearing years and incurred medical expenses for the treatment of her severe emotional distress, 

the cost of the drugs that ultimately caused the demise of her child, the medical treatment that led 

to the death of her child, and the funeral expenses after the child passed. Williams ID is entitled 

to recover: the loss of her child bearing years, and the incurred medical expenses for the 

treatment of the child and her severe emotional distress. 

FOR A FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Constructive Fraud) 

 

70. Each and every allegation set forth above is fully incorporated herein. 

71. Upon information and belief, Defendants issued the 2007 Report to ’s treating  

physicians which contained materially false information regarding the results of the genetic 

testing, that directly resulted in damage to , as set forth above, and damage to Williams 

ID through the loss of a substantial period of her child bearing years based on the false belief she 

passed an uncharacterized mitochondrial disorder to her son , as well as severe emotional 

distress to Williams ID. 

72. Upon information and belief, this false representation included the following: 

a) These Defendants issued a report to ’s treating physicians regarding the 

genetic testing results of  when they knew, or ought to have known, that 

the 2007 Report was a materially false representation; in that, they reported the 

mutation possessed by  was “a variant of unknown significance” instead of 

a “known disease-associated mutation”; 
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b) The report was materially false and misleading; 

c) These Defendants had the intent for Williams ID and ’s treating physicians 

to rely on the representation that they made and that she and her physicians would 

rely on and act upon the erroneous report; 

d) Williams ID and ’s treating physicians were ignorant and uninformed of 

the material falsity of the assertions contained in the report; 

e) Williams ID and ’s treating physicians relied upon the truth of the results 

published by Defendants in the report and had a right to rely on the truth of the 

statements made by Defendants who are entities that, in their normal course of 

business and in furtherance of their business, perform this type of genetic testing; 

f) As a direct result and proximate cause of the Defendants’ false representation and 

the Plaintiffs’ and ’s treating physicians’ reliance on the false 

representation, Plaintiffs have suffered injury and damages as set forth below.  

73. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and/or omissions of all the Defendants,   

 sustained severe and permanent injuries, eventually leading to his death. ’s 

statutory beneficiaries, as represented by Williams PR, have suffered economic loss, severe 

emotional distress, anxiety, grief, and sorrow for which Williams PR is entitled to recover on 

behalf of the statutory beneficiaries actual and punitive damages. 

74. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and/or omissions of all the Defendants,  

 sustained severe and permanent injuries, eventually leading to his death, and thereby 

proximately causing Plaintiff Williams ID the loss of comfort, services, companionship, and 

society of her son and child. Moreover, Williams ID lost a significant portion of her child 

bearing years and incurred medical expenses for the treatment of her severe emotional distress, 

3:16-cv-00972-MBS     Date Filed 06/02/16    Entry Number 24     Page 21 of 28



22 

 

the cost of the drugs that ultimately caused the demise of her child, the medical treatment that led 

to the death of her child, and the funeral expenses after the child passed. Williams ID is entitled 

to recover: the loss of her child bearing years, and the incurred medical expenses for the 

treatment of the child and for her severe emotional distress. 

FOR A FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Civil Conspiracy) 

 

75. Each and every allegation set forth above is fully incorporated herein. 

76. Upon information and belief, once the obvious misrepresentation and falsity in the 2007 

Report was discovered, the decision to hide ’s actual diagnostic condition was a 

conscious one made exclusively to protect corporate assets of defendants Athena, ADI, and 

Quest. Both Athena and Quest jointly issued the revised 2015 Report on the SCN1A DNA 

Sequencing Diagnostic and forwarded this revised 2015 Report to Williams ID, through Dr. 

Clarkson.    

77. At some point between the issuance of the 2007 Report and the issuance of the 2015  

Report, two or more of the above named Defendants (Athena, ADI, and Quest) acting through 

their agents and/or executives conspired to intentionally withhold and cover-up the corrected 

information as reflected by the 2015 Report and as set forth in the “Factual Background for 

Relief.” 

78. Upon information and belief, Defendants recognized the significant risks these false  

reports posed to their respective financial assets and, in response, developed a plan to avoid 

responsibility for their respective acts by failing to disclose the false statement in the 2007 report 

to the Plaintiffs and by deliberate concealment of the false report. 

79. The Defendants discovered the original false representation in the 2007 Report Technical  
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Results that misclassified the mutation at issue, and then engaged in deceitful conduct by 

intentionally concealing the initial false statement issued in the 2007 report. These intentional 

acts, in addition to the facts alleged in Plaintiffs’ previous causes of action, were done willfully 

and in furtherance of the Defendants’ conspiracy. 

80. These Defendants lied, misrepresented, and actively concealed ’s actual genetic  

testing results in an attempt to protect corporate assets and hide their negligent misrepresentation 

and fraudulent malfeasance. This concealment not only harmed the Plaintiffs but violated 

regulatory standards as set forth under the CLIA. This conduct is both criminal, as a purposeful 

violation of CLIA regulation 42 C.F.R. § 493.1806(e), and shameful. Prior to 2015, the 

Defendants recognized that a substantial number of individuals were affected by similar 

erroneous SCN1A DNA Clinical Diagnostic Sequencing Reports. Defendants’ intentional cover 

up and deception based upon concealing the known erroneous reporting prevented Williams ID 

from knowing the true nature of the DNA mutation at issue until the 2015 Revised Report was 

finally made available to Williams ID.  These erroneous Clinical Diagnostic Reports can result in 

ill-informed health care choices, needless suffering, and death.   

81. Defendants’ conspiracy is also a violation of CLIA regulation §493.1291(k), as neither  

issued a properly amended clinical diagnostic report when this DNA mutation (1237T>A, 

Y413N) was re-classified as a “Known disease-associated mutation.”  When errors in the test 

results are detected, “the laboratory must: (k)(1) Promptly notify the authorized person ordering 

the test and, if applicable, the individual using the test results of reporting errors, (k)(2) Issue 

corrected reports promptly to the authorized person(s) ordering the test and, if applicable, the 

individual using the test results.”  

82. Furthermore, both Defendants Athena and Quest violated the Plaintiffs’ right to access  
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protected health information (CLIA regulation §493.1291(1), and the Health Insurance 

Portability and Accountability Act, regulation 45 CFR §164.524(c)(3)(ii)), when each refused to 

provide the completed test results to the Plaintiffs upon Williams PR’s request in September 

2014.  

83. The revised 2015 Report does not cite any new publication references used in the re- 

classification of this mutation (1237T>A, Y413N). Such an error violates CLIA regulation 

§493.1241(c)(8), which states in part, “any additional information relevant and necessary for a 

specific test to ensure accurate and timely testing and reporting of results, including 

interpretation.” 

84. The purportedly new laboratory results, as set forth within the 2015 Report, falsely state 

that both Nagan and Zhu authorized and signed-off on the issuance of the report. However, both 

agents left their employment with Athena before 2009 and, as such, could not have possibly 

authorized the issuance of the revised 2015 Report.  

85. Such an intentional misrepresentation and intentional violation of CLIA federal  

regulatory standards is criminal, pursuant to § 493.1806(e), and civilly actionable due to the 

harm it has caused the Plaintiffs.  

86. Since her discovery that  died from complications associated with Dravet  

Syndrome and the continued application of sodium channel blocking drugs, as opposed to other 

unknown genetic conditions, Williams ID has incurred special damages including the precise and 

ascertainable cost of a Whole Exome Sequencing, which included a mitochondrial DNA test. 

Mitochondrial DNA is separate from cellular DNA.   

87. In June 2015, the Whole Exome Sequencing was undertaken by Williams ID when it  
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became apparent that she could not trust the results of the Defendants’ reports, and was intended 

to confirm Williams ID’s original mitochondrial diagnosis. Williams ID was compelled to 

determine the likelihood that she would pass such a condition to additional children that she 

might have. This test was wholly unnecessary given that  died from complications 

associated with Dravet Syndrome and would not have been undertaken by Williams ID had the 

corrected information not been suppressed by Defendants. 

88. In addition to the cost of this additional genetic testing, until she received the results of  

the independent genetic testing conducted subsequent to the receipt of the 2015 Report, Williams 

ID continued to hold the belief that she might carry an inheritable mitochondrial disorder. As a 

result of the 2015 Report, and once she obtained confirmation that she did not carry an 

inheritable mitochondrial disorder, Williams ID sought and received additional extensive 

psychiatric counseling, including the prescription of different and/or increased medications, to 

deal with the real cause of her child’s death, as well as the mental anguish and suffering 

associated with restricting herself from having more children out of fear of passing the same 

genetic mutation that she falsely believed she had.  

 

FOR A FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Unfair Trade Practice Violations) 

 

89. Each and every allegation set forth above is fully incorporated herein. 

90. The Defendants sought to profit, and did profit, by performing SCN1A DNA testing on  

 and other clients. The Defendants also are among the world’s leading providers of 

diagnostic testing on human tissue and offer services that range from routine blood tests, Pap 

testing, and white blood cell count, to such complex diagnostic testing as genetic and molecular 

testing. 

91. The Defendants engaged in deceitful conduct by concealing the initial mistake issued in  
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the 2007 report. As more thoroughly set forth above, these Defendants lied, misrepresented, and 

actively concealed ’s actual genetic testing results in an attempt to protect corporate 

assets and hide their negligence and malfeasance. This concealment not only harmed the 

Plaintiffs but violated regulatory standards as set for under the CLIA. This deception prevented 

 and Williams ID from knowing the true nature of the DNA mutation at issue.      

92. Left with the false belief that her son died of an uncharacterized mitochondrial disorder,  

Williams ID vainly sought to uncover what disorder she may have carried. Additionally, 

Williams ID was left with the false belief that this uncharacterized mitochondrial disorder might 

be inherited by any future children she might have. Williams ID spent a considerable amount of 

money and time in this fruitless endeavor since the specific DNA mutation (1237T>A, Y413N) 

on the SCN1A gene was known well to express Dravet Syndrome.  

93. Further, Williams ID’s false belief that her son died of an uncharacterized mitochondrial  

disorder and her seeming inability to obtain a clear cause of his death directly and proximately 

caused Williams ID to suffer severe emotional distress. Williams ID thereafter required the care 

and treatment of licensed medical providers at some significant personal expense.   

94. Since her discovery that  died from complications associated with Dravet and the  

application of sodium channel blocking drugs, but not some other unknown genetic condition, 

Williams ID has incurred $31,065.82 to date in medical costs related to psychiatric care 

undertaken to help her cope with this discovery and the knowledge that ’s death was 

entirely preventable and proximately caused by the negligence of these Defendants. 

95. The Defendants negligently, carelessly, recklessly, willfully and/or wantonly engaged in  

unfair or deceptive acts in the conduct of trade or commerce which are prohibited by S.C. Code 

Ann. § 39-5-20, et seq. (South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act). 
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96. The Defendants’ unfair or deceptive acts are capable of repetition given the nature of  

Defendants’ business and the vast number of people, both in South Carolina and around the 

country, who depend on the numerous diagnostic tests performed by these Defendants each year. 

Specifically, on November 11, 2004, in a “Chairman’s Address to Bionomics Limited 2004 

AMG,” Bionomics suggested that as many as Two Hundred Thirty Thousand (230,000) children 

in the United States may be candidates for the same testing at issue here.  The “Address” is 

attached and incorporated within this complaint and affixed hereto as Exhibit C, as if set forth 

herein verbatim.  In September 2004, Bionomics granted a license to Athena Diagnostics for 

marketing of SMEI testing in the United States. 

97. Additionally, Plaintiffs are aware of the case of , who sought the  

assistance of Athena in 2008. In 2008, Athena identified a mutation (2589+3A>T, IVS14+3A>T) 

in Claire’s SCN1A gene. Athena classified this mutation as a “Variant of unknown significance.” 

As with , this classification was incorrect since ’s mutation had been also 

identified in Harkin et al., 2007 as associated with Dravet. ’s mutation was reclassified 

in 2010 to be a “Known disease-associated mutation.” Therefore, these acts are clearly capable 

of repetition and, as such, have an effect on the public and do concern the public interest.    

98. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ unfair or deceptive acts, which are in  

violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, Williams ID has suffered monetary 

damages, in an amount to be determined by the jury, in addition to treble damages and attorney’s 

fees as authorized by statute.   

 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against the above named Defendants for 

actual and punitive damages in a reasonable amount for the costs of this action, including 
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reasonable attorney fees, for treble damages as may be assessed pursuant to South Carolina 

Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 39-5-20, et seq., and for such other relief as the 

Court may deem just and proper.  

       

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

 

 

s/Bradford W. Cranshaw    

Bradford W. Cranshaw (Fed. Bar #9733) 

Grier Cox and Cranshaw, LLC 

2999 Sunset Blvd, Suite 200 

West Columbia, SC  29169 

Phone: 803-731-0030 

Fax: 803-731-4059 

 

Matthew M. McGuire (Fed. Bar #8051) 

The Ervin & McGuire Law Firm 

1824 Bull Street 

Columbia, SC 29201 

Phone: 803-708-8471 

Fax:  803-708-4771 

 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 

June 2, 2016 

Columbia, South Carolina 
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